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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

NRC Inspection Report No. 03034542/2009001 
 
 
Superior Well Services, Ltd. (SWS) maintains U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) 
License No. 37-30412-01.  The license authorizes SWS to use radioactive material in sealed 
form in its well-logging activities, and storage of radioactive material at three of its facilities that 
are located within the NRC’s jurisdiction. The corporate office is located in Indiana, 
Pennsylvania. The licensee had designated a Corporate Radiation Safety Officer (CRSO), and a 
site Radiation Safety Officer for each of the three facilities.  The CRSO had minimal involvement 
in the implementation of radiation safety program at the sites, and had designated the Health, 
Safety & Environmental Compliance Manager (HSECM) to supervise the licensed activities at 
the sites. 
 
On July 23, 2009, during an inspection of the licensee’s facility in Buckhannon, West Virginia, 
the inspector noted that the licensee had an event on September 20, 2008, when two sealed 
sources, containing cesium-137 and americium-241, had fallen off of the company truck during 
transport.  The event occurred on a public highway, when the truck was returning from a job site. 
The sources remained on the highway for approximately one and a half hours until the licensee 
recovered them.  Each of the two sources contained licensed material in quantities in excess of 
1000 times the quantities specified in Appendix C to 10 CFR Part 20, which required an 
immediate report by telephone to the NRC of the missing material.   
 
Concurrent with the inspection, the NRC Office of Investigations (OI) opened an investigation to 
determine whether SWS employees:  (i) failed to report to the NRC an incident involving the loss 
of improperly secured radioactive well logging sources, which had fallen off a truck; (ii) provided 
answers to radiation safety training test questions; and (iii) falsified the required radiological 
survey records. The OI investigation substantiated that on multiple occasions three former  
open-hole riggers falsified the required radiological survey records. (For details regarding the OI 
Investigation, see Enclosure 2 to the cover letter transmitting this Inspection Report.)  
 
Based on the NRC inspection and investigation, the following apparent violations of NRC 
requirements were identified:  
 

1. Failure to perform radiological surveys of the vehicle before transporting licensed 
material required by 10 CFR 39.67; 
 

2. Deliberate failure to maintain a complete and accurate record of the radiation surveys 
required by 10 CFR 39.67, in accordance with 10 CFR 30.9; 
 

3. Failure to control and maintain constant surveillance of licensed material that was in an 
unrestricted area as required by 10 CFR 20.1802; 
 

4. Failure to make an immediate report to NRC of missing licensed material that was 
greater than 1000 times the quantity of Appendix C, when it became known to SWS, as 
required by 10 CFR 20.2201; 
 

5. Failure to provide complete information in statements to the NRC inspector, regarding 
the circumstances of the September 20, 2008 event, as required by 10 CFR 30.9.  The 
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information provided in these statements was considered material to the NRC; 
 

6. Failure to block and brace packages containing licensed radioactive material from 
shifting during transport, as required by 10 CFR 71.5 and 49 CFR173.448; and 
 

7. Failure to maintain records of annual audit of its radiation safety program, as required by 
10 CFR 20.2202 

 
The licensee’s corrective actions included:  (1) enhancing how the material is secured in 
company trucks during transport; (2) revising the training program to include the notification 
requirements; (3) scheduling monthly conference calls with site RSOs, Regional managers, and 
Corporate RSO to discuss issues; (4) developing a new procedure to conduct multiple radiation 
safety program audits; (5) replacing the Corporate RSO to better manage the radiation safety 
program; (6) retraining staff on the use of survey meters; and (7) reinforcing to staff that 
falsification of survey readings would not be tolerated.  Additional comprehensive corrective 
actions are expected to be discussed by the licensee during either a Predecisional Enforcement 
Conference or an Alternative Dispute Resolution mediation session.
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REPORT DETAILS 
 
 

I. Organization and Scope of the Program 
 
  
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the licensee’s organizational structure and scope of licensed 
activities. 

 
b. Observations and Findings 
 

Superior Well Services, Ltd. (SWS) is an oilfield services company that operates in many 
of the major oil and natural gas producing regions of the United States.  The Corporate 
office of SWS is located in Indiana, Pennsylvania (PA), with branch offices in several 
states, including West Virginia (WV) and Michigan (MI).  The Wireline Services 
Department of SWS offers technical assistance and “down-hole” surveying services to oil 
and natural gas companies.  In 1997, SWS decided to include radiological well logging 
services using radioactive material to perform down-hole surveying, and applied for an 
NRC license for use of licensed material in these services.  
 
NRC License No. 37-30412-01 issued on November 12, 1997, authorized SWS to use 
sealed sources containing licensed material in well-logging operations at its temporary 
job sites.  The license (Amendment No. 11) had authorized storage of licensed material 
at three SWS facilities located in Buckhannon, WV, Sophia, WV, and Gaylord, MI.  SWS 
had appointed a Corporate Radiation Safety Officer (CRSO) to implement its radiation 
safety program.  The CRSO was also the General Manager of its Wireline Services 
Department and worked from the corporate office in Indiana, PA.  The inspector noted 
that the CRSO had designated his responsibility as the CRSO to the corporate Health 
Safety and Environment Compliance Manager (HSECM), who reported to the corporate 
Director of Heath Safety & Environmental (HSE).   
 
Each authorized storage location (branch offices) had a site Radiation Safety Officer 
(RSO), who reported to different senior HSE regional managers.  Each branch office had 
well-logging supervisors/engineers who were responsible for the radioactive material 
being when used at temporary job sites.  The well-logging supervisors/engineers 
reported to the site RSO.   
 

c. Conclusions 
 

No violations or safety concerns were identified. 
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II. Management Oversight of the Program 

 
 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the management oversight of licensed activities and the 
implementation of the radiation safety program by a review of records and interviews with 
each site RSO, the CRSO, senior HSE regional managers, and the HSECM. 

 
b. Observations and Findings 
 

The SWS Manager of the Wireline Services Department was also the CRSO until 
March 25, 2010. The inspector noted that the CRSO had minimal involvement in the 
implementation of the radiation safety program at the three branch offices, and had not 
visited or reviewed the implementation of the radiation safety program at the Gaylord, MI 
office in more than a year. The CRSO stated that each site RSO was responsible for 
performing annual audits of the radiation safety program at his branch office.  Another 
individual from the corporate or another regional office would perform an independent 
review of the results of the audit and the records at each branch office.  The CRSO also 
stated he would review the annual audit reports for each branch office.  However, the 
RSO at the Buckhannon, WV office stated that he did not perform the annual audits at 
his branch, and that the HSECM was responsible for performing annual audits. The 
HSECM stated that he performed the annual audits at each branch office. The inspector 
noted that the HSECM had the same understanding of the audit program as the site 
RSO.  
 
The inspector reviewed the annual audit program and noted that the HSECM performed 
an audit of the Buckhannon office on November 19, 2007, but there was no indication 
that the CRSO or the Corporate Director of HSE had reviewed the audit report. The 
HSECM stated that he performed the next audit of the Buckhannon branch on 
July 11, 2008, but was unable to locate the report of this audit.  Although the CRSO had 
stated that he reviewed the annual audit reports, neither the CRSO nor any of the other 
managers could recall having seen the report of this audit.  As of July 2009, neither the 
CRSO nor any of the other managers asked the HSECM for the written report of the 
audit that was conducted on July 11, 2008. 
 
10 CFR 20.2202(a) requires, in part, that each licensee maintain records of the radiation 
protection program, including audits and other reviews of program content and 
implementation.  The licensee is required to retain the records for 3 years after the record 
is made. 
 
Failure to maintain record of the annual audit conducted on July 11, 2008, is an apparent 
violation of 10 CFR 20.2202(a). 
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c. Conclusions 
 

The inspector identified one violation of NRC requirements, specifically, the failure to 
maintain records of annual audits of the radiation safety program as required by 
10 CFR 20.2202(a).  The inspector also concluded there were weak communications 
and oversight among the managers involved with the radiation safety program.  
 
 

III. Follow up of an Event 
 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed an event that occurred on September 20, 2008, and the 
licensee’s follow up of the event, including its corrective actions. 
 

b. Observations and Findings 
 

During the inspection on July 23, 2009, the RSO at the Buckhannon, WV office informed 
the inspector that an event had occurred on September 20, 2008, when licensed material 
had fallen off of a truck that was returning from a temporary job site.  He stated that the 
licensed material included a 2-curie cesium 137 source and a 3-curie americium 241 
source.  He also stated that the sources were retrieved within approximately half an hour 
by the Senior Open-Hole Engineer (Engineer), who had used the material earlier in the 
day at the job site.  The event involved three individuals; the Engineer, and two 
Drivers/Riggers (Driver A and Driver B).  The two drivers in the truck and the Engineer in 
his personal vehicle formed the convoy on their way back from a job site to the 
Buckhannon facility.  The Engineer, however, did not stay with the convoy the entire trip 
back to the facility as was required by the SWS convoy procedure.   
 
On September 22, 2008, the Engineer described the event in the written “Employee’s 
Report of Near Miss” that stated:  
 
 “The truck was heading south on I-79 Exit 110 when the truck hit a pot hole on 

the bridge which in turn caused the weld to break holding the source plate.  The 
sources hit the door causing it to open and the source pigs fell out of the truck.  
Sources were recovered and secured back on the truck.” 

 
The site RSO also prepared the “Supervisor’s Near Miss Report” the same day.  Only the 
Engineer had signed the Near Miss report and the site RSO approved the report without 
any further investigation of the event or discussions with the two drivers who were in the 
truck. The site RSO filed the Near Miss reports in the appropriate folder at his facility.  He 
also stated that he sent the Near Miss report to the CRSO, via electronic mail with copies 
to other managers, including the HSECM.  However, none of the managers, including the 
CRSO and HSECM could recall having received the report from the site RSO.    
 
During the inspection, on July 23, 2009, the Engineer told the inspector that he was 
approximately quarter of a mile away from the location where the truck hit the pot hole 
when he was notified that the sources were missing.  When Driver A notified him of the 
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missing sources, he immediately went to the location, found the sources, secured them 
in his truck and brought them to the Buckhannon facility.  He estimated that the sources 
remained unattended by the side of the highway for approximately 30 minutes.  He also 
stated that the two sources were still chained together when he found them. 
 
The licensee reported this event (Event No. 45225) to the NRC Operations Center on 
July 23, 2009, after the inspector reminded the licensee of the reporting requirement in 
10 CFR 20.2201.   
 
10 CFR 20.2201(a) requires, in part, that each licensee report by telephone immediately 
after its occurrence is known to the licensee any lost or missing licensed material in an 
aggregate quantity equal to or greater than 1,000 times the quantity specified in 
Appendix C to 10 CFR Part 20 under such circumstances that it appears to the licensee 
that an exposure could result to persons in unrestricted areas.  (The quantities for 
cesium-137 and americium-241 specified in Appendix C to 10 CFR Part 20 are 10 
microcuries and 0.001 microcuries, respectively.)   
 
Failure to immediately report to the NRC Operations Center of the missing licensed 
material is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.2201(a).  
 
The site RSO stated that a report to NRC was not made, because it was his 
understanding that since the sources had been found within a short period and were no 
longer missing a report was unnecessary.  
 
From the discussions with the site RSO and the Engineer on July 23, 2009, the inspector 
determined that the two sources that had fallen off of the truck, remained unattended on 
the side of a public highway, an unrestricted area, and were not under the control and 
constant surveillance of the licensee. 
 
10 CFR 20.1802 requires that the licensee control and maintain constant surveillance of 
licensed material that is in a controlled or unrestricted area and that is not in storage. 
 
Failure to control and maintain constant surveillance of the licensed material licensed 
material that was in an unrestricted area is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1802. 
 
On July 23, 2009, the HSECM provided the inspector with a written report of the event.  
The report was dated July 22, 2009.  The inspector reviewed the report and noted that it 
did not include all of the information that is specified in 10 CFR 20.2201(b), and 
requested the licensee to revise the report to include all of the required information.  The 
licensee submitted the revised report (ML101610278) on October 5, 2009. 
 
On July 23, 2009, the inspector examined the truck that was used at the job site on 
September 20, 2008, and the storage compartment of the truck.  As a corrective action, 
the licensee had welded the plate with source holders to the base of the storage 
compartment, repaired the lock, and had installed a heavy hasp lock to secure the door 
from opening during transport.  The inspector noted that the source containers were 
chained together inside the compartment.  
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During a subsequent discussion on February 22, 2010, the Engineer acknowledged that 
on July 23, 2009, he did not provide complete information about the event to the 
inspector.  The Engineer also did not provide complete information to the site RSO or the 
HSECM, in that he was not the first one to find the sources.  Had the Engineer provided 
this information to the inspector on July 23, 2009, the inspector would have discussed 
the event with the employees that had first hand knowledge of the event.   
SWS company procedures required its employees to convoy and stay with the truck until 
licensed radioactive material was returned to an authorized storage location.  The 
Engineer had not followed this procedure and arrived at the location where the sources 
were found after other SWS employees, about one and half hours later.  Previously, the 
licensee estimated that the sources may have remained at the location for less than 30 
minutes, based on the information given by the Engineer to the licensee.  The licensee 
used this information to assess dose estimates that were included in the licensee’s 
written report of the event to the NRC.  Further, no radiation surveys were conducted at 
the locations where the sources had fallen and rolled.  
 
Failure of the Engineer to provide complete information regarding the circumstances of 
the event is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.9(a). 
 
A contributing cause of the missing sources was how these sources were secured during 
transport.  The inspector observed that if the compartment door on the truck was not 
properly secured, these heavy objects could have forced the door to open during 
transport when the truck hit the pot hole.  Therefore, it appeared that the failure to secure 
the source containers to prevent shifting during transport caused the unsecured source 
containers to fall off when the truck hit the pot hole.   
 
10 CFR 71.5 requires, in part, that each licensee who transports licensed material 
outside the site of usage or where transport is on public highways comply with the 
applicable requirements of the DOT regulations. 
 
49 CFR 173.448(a) requires that each shipment of Class 7 (radioactive) materials be 
secured to prevent shifting during normal transportation conditions.     
 
Failure to secure containers of the sealed sources from shifting during transport of the 
sources is an apparent violation of 49 CFR 173.448(a). 
 
The inspector determined that between September 20, 2008, and July 16, 2009, the 
senior regional HSE manager and the HSECM made several visits to the Buckhannon 
facility to review conduct of activities at the site, but no one reviewed the Near Miss file 
that was kept at the facility that included the report of this event.  From a review of the 
records provided by the licensee, the inspector noted that on June 2, 2009, the senior 
HSE regional manager, the HSECM, and the CRSO received information about an event 
of “loose sources.”  However, there was no effective follow-up of the information.  
Specifically, the HSECM sent an e-mail to the site RSO inquiring about the “loose 
sources,” but did not follow up with the site RSO after getting no response from him.  It 
appeared that the communication between the corporate office managers and the site 
personnel was not adequate enough to ensure that appropriate corrective actions were 
implemented in a timely manner, when deficiencies or problems were identified.  
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c. Conclusions 
 

The inspector identified four violations of NRC requirements: 
 

1. Failure to control and maintain constant surveillance of licensed material that was 
in an unrestricted area as required by 10 CFR 20.1802; 
 

2. Failure to make an immediate report to NRC of missing licensed material that was 
greater than 1000 times the quantity of Appendix C, when it became known to 
SWS, as required by 10 CFR 20.2201; 
 

3. Failure to provide complete and accurate information in statements material to 
the NRC regarding the circumstances of the September 20, 2008 event, as 
required by 10 CFR 30.9; and 
 

4. Failure to block and brace packages containing licensed radioactive material from 
shifting during transport, as required by 10 CFR 71.5 and 49 CFR173.448. 

 
Also based on the discussions with licensee’s personnel, the inspector concluded that 
the licensee did not maintain an effective safety culture, which may have contributed to 
the apparent violations that are identified during this inspection.  The licensee’s 
inadequate follow-up of the event appeared to indicate weak communication between the 
site RSOs and Corporate Management.     
 
 
 

IV. Material Receipt, Use, Transfer, and Control 
 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the licensee’s procedures for maintaining material accountability. 
 
b. Observations and Findings 
 

The licensee had adequate procedures to maintain accountability of licensed material 
possessed under the license.  The inspector reviewed the licensee’s inventory and 
verified that all devices listed on the inventory were stored at the site.  The licensee 
maintained records of use of licensed material at each job temporary job site.  The 
records included the date of use, location of use, and the names of persons at the job 
site.  The devices were not stored at the temporary job sites and were brought back to 
the storage location at the end of each job.   
 
On November 8, 2009, the licensee notified the NRC Operations Center that a sealed 
source containing cesium 137 was irretrievably stuck in a wellbore. The event occurred 
on November 6, 2009, and after several failed attempts to retrieve the stuck source, the 
licensee decided to abandon the source.  The licensee discussed its abandonment plan 
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with Region I on November 9, 2009.  The licensee followed the regulatory requirements 
specified in 10 CFR 39.15, for the abandonment of this source. 
 

c. Conclusions 
 

No violations or safety concerns were identified. 
 
 
 

V. Training of Workers 
 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the licensee’s training program by interviewing staff and 
reviewing records. 

 
b. Observations and Findings 
 

The HSECM was responsible for implementing the licensee’s training program.  He was 
responsible for ensuring that employees at the facilities were provided the needed 
training related to NRC regulatory requirements.  The licensee had also retained an 
independent contractor to provide initial training to well-loggers/engineers.  The HSECM 
stated that he provided the initial and refresher training to individuals who may use NRC 
licensed material, and the training included proper use of survey instruments.  However, 
he acknowledged that his training did not include hands-on training of the use of survey 
meters, and the hands-on training was provided by the well-logger/engineer on the job 
sites.  The inspector discussed the hands-on training of use of survey meters use with 
well-loggers/engineers and they confirmed that they provided hands-on training to 
workers.  However, the licensee did not maintain records of this hands-on training.   
 
The inspector reviewed training records of personnel who were using or have used 
licensed material in the last two years.  The records included the date of the training, 
topics covered in the training and signature of the attendees.  The inspector interviewed 
two former employees who had performed radiological surveys at the licensee’s job sites. 
These individuals acknowledged that they had received the training in the use of survey 
meters, but did not fully understand how to use survey instruments to perform the 
radiological surveys. 

 
c. Conclusions 
 

The inspector did not identify any violation of NRC requirements with regard to training.  
However, the inspector noted that required surveys were not performed (see Section VI) 
and that the licensee did not have a process to verify (test) that personnel responsible for 
performing radiological surveys at job sites were adequately trained to perform these 
required surveys.  
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VI. Radiation Surveys 
 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the licensee’s radiation surveys by reviewing records and 
interviewing licensee personnel. 

 
b. Observations and Findings 
 

The licensee possessed appropriate survey instruments to perform the required 
radiological surveys.  The survey instruments were calibrated at the required frequency 
and on the days of inspection, the inspector verified that the survey meters were 
appropriately calibrated and were operational.  The licensee had developed procedures 
for performing surveys, including the periodic leak tests of the sealed sources.  The 
inspector noted that the licensee maintained records that indicated that the sealed 
sources were tested for leakage at the required frequency. 
 
10 CFR 39.67(b) requires, in part, that before transporting licensed material the licensee 
make a radiation survey of the exterior of each vehicle used to transport the licensed 
materials, and 10 CFR 39.67(f) requires, in part, that the results of these surveys be 
recorded.  The licensee had developed procedures to make these surveys and the 
procedures included a form to make a record of these surveys for each job site.  The 
inspector noted that the survey form included the date, name of job site, instrument used 
to perform the surveys, and signatures of the supervisor (Engineer) and the riggers 
(drivers).  However, it did not identify who had performed the surveys.  The Engineer 
stated that usually the surveys were performed by one of the two riggers (drivers).  
However, during the interviews with two former riggers/drivers, they acknowledged that 
on numerous occasions they did not perform the surveys and just completed the survey 
forms by copying the data from previously completed forms.  They explained that they 
falsified the data because they did not fully understand how to make radiation surveys.   
 
The inspector reviewed survey records and determined that the personnel completed the 
radiological survey form without actually performing the required surveys.  For example, 
the inspector identified that the surveys discovered dose rates closer to the sources were 
lower than at locations greater distances from the sources. 
 
The inspector also reviewed records of the surveys maintained by the Buckhannon 
facility and noted that several of these surveys also appeared to be the falsified.  The 
inspector reviewed the survey records of September 15, 19, and 20, 2008.  The Engineer 
was the supervisor on these three days and one of the riggers was also the same 
individual who had acknowledged that on occasions he completed the survey form 
without performing the surveys.  The records did not identify who had performed the 
surveys.  The inspector noted that these records had the same data on all three days 
and on each form the dose rate at the opposite side of storage compartment (1.5 mR/hr) 
was higher than those near the source storage (0.03 mR/hr) in the three records.   
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Neither the Engineer nor the site RSO were able to explain the apparent discrepancies in 
the data.     
 
The site RSO and the Engineer acknowledged that they had heard of individuals 
falsifying survey records but did not have any proof.  The licensee did not perform further 
investigation of possible falsification, but provided a general reminder to all workers 
during training not to falsify the records.  The managers at the corporate office stated that 
they were unaware of suspicion of falsification of survey records.  The inspector noted 
that even after suspecting the falsification of survey records the licensee did not 
implement effective procedures to ensure that the required surveys were made and 
accurate records of these surveys were maintained.   
 
10 CFR 39.67(b) requires, in part, that before transporting licensed materials, the 
licensee make a radiation survey of the exterior of each vehicle used to transport the 
licensed materials. 
 
Failure to make the radiation surveys of the exterior of the vehicle that was used to 
transport licensed material is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 39.67(b).   
 
10 CFR 30.9(a) requires, in part, that the information required by Commission’s 
regulations to be maintained by the licensee be complete and accurate in all material 
respects. 
 

c. Conclusions 
 

The inspector identified two apparent violations:  
 

1. Failure to perform radiological surveys of the vehicle before transporting licensed 
material required by 10 CFR 39.67; and 

2. Deliberate failure to maintain a complete and accurate record of the radiation 
surveys required by 10 CFR 39.67, in accordance with 10 CFR 30.9. 
 

  
VII.  Exit Meeting 

 
 

During the preliminary exit telephone conference with the licensee, on June 15, 2010, the 
inspector discussed the circumstances surrounding six of the apparent violations, the 
significance of the issues, and the need for lasting and effective corrective actions. The 
inspector also noted that the management oversight of the radiation safety program 
needed significant improvement to ensure consistent, continued safe licensed activities, 
with a work environment that reinforces a culture of safety.  The licensee reiterated its 
commitment to conduct licensed activities in full compliance with all regulatory 
requirements. The licensee stated that a lack of clear understanding of the regulatory 
requirements caused the apparent violations and that the inspection had been a learning 
experience for them.  After the telephone conference call on June 15, 2010, SWS 
provided via electronic mail (ML101870596), its corrective actions that had been 
implemented thus far to prevent recurrence of the violations.   
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These actions included: (1) enhancing how the material is secured in company trucks 
during transport; (2) revising the training program to include the notification requirements; 
(3) scheduling monthly conference calls with site RSOs, Regional managers, and 
Corporate RSO to discuss issues; (4) developing a new procedure to conduct multiple 
radiation safety program audits; and (5) replacing the Corporate RSO to better manage 
the radiation safety program.  On July 22, 2010, during a final exit telephone conference, 
another apparent violation, namely, the failure to make the required radiation surveys 
was discussed with the new Corporate RSO.  Regarding this concern, the licensee took 
the following additional corrective actions:  (6) retrained staff on the use of survey 
meters, and (7) informed staff that falsification of survey readings will not be tolerated.  
Additional comprehensive corrective actions are expected to be discussed by the 
licensee during either a Predecisional Enforcement Conference or an Alternative Dispute 
Resolution mediation session. 
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PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED 
 

Licensee 
 
John Srock, HSE Director 
Martin Comini, General Manager, Wireline Services Department and former CRSO 
Sam Hockenberry, Senior HSE Regional Manager 
Lewis Cessna, Corporate HSE Compliance Manager and new CRSO (as of March 25, 2010) 
Donnie Miles, Site RSO and Branch Manager (Buckhannon, WV) 
Mark Lewis, Supervisor/Engineer 
David Lewis, Supervisor/Engineer 
Jeff Blankenship, HSE Supervisor (Sophia, WV) 
Patrick Kellam, HSE Supervisor (Gaylord, MI) 
Several Former Employees (Buckhannon, WV) 
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